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2024 12 31 2023 12 31 10
2024 12 31
128,247 96.00
128,247 96.00
2023 12 31
2,209,625 30.03
2,225,049 30.24
1,011,329 13.75
1,847,872 25.11
7,293,875 99.13
9.1.2
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16,667 -16,667
12 12
2023 12 31
6,282,546 1,011,329*
133,217
-7,358,082
-69,010
133,217 -1,144,546 1,011,329
*
ACG ACG
2022 10 ACG
ACG ACG
2022 10
ACG 2022 10
ACG
2023
2023 31
ACG
2024 12 31 2024 1,011,329

9.3

IFRS
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2024 2023
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Financial Position
ax at 31 December 2024

fn Ui Dollars Motes 2024 2023

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss k] 128,247 -

Current assets

Cash and cash cquivalenis 4 16,667 133,217
Financial asscts at fair value through profit or loss 5 - 7.293.875
Total asscis 144,914 TAZT 92

LIABILITIES

Current liabilitics

Redemption payvable - 7.358,082
Other payvables 6 11.330 GU010
Total liabilities excluding net assets attributable to

unitholders 11,330 7427092
Net assets attribotable to unitholders® 133,584 =
Tuotal liabilities 144,914 TA2T 092

*MNet assets attributable to unitholders are classified as financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and as equity a1 31
December 2023,

Accompanying notes are an infegral part of the financial statements.

fi
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Sor tee year ended 31 December 2024

For the period from

16 September 2022
(date of
For ithe commencement
vear ended of operations) to
I US Dollars Notes 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Income
Imierest income - 21
Distribution income - 89,594
Nel realised gains on Ninancial assets sl fir value through
profit or loss - 24,213
Met unrealised gains on financial assels at fair value through
profit or loss 9.5 1,436 479,662
Met forcign exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (41 (932)
Total income 1396 592 538
Expenses
Mamagement fees & 235 63,810
Audit fees B 44,375
Organisation expenses - 108.174
Legal fees - 11,935
Professional fecs 192 4,269
Bank charges (e 1893
Total expenses 496 234456
Increase in net assets attributable to unitholders 900 358,082

Aeccompanying notes are an integral pari of the financial statements.

7
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Changes in net assets aitributable to redeemable unitholders
Sor thee year ended 31 December 2024
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MNote 2024 2023

Met assets attributable to unitholders at 1 Janovary 2024/
16 September 2022 (date of commencement of operations)
Issuance of redecmable uniis

Redemption of redecmable units

Increase in net assets attributable to unitholders

Met assets attributable to unitholders at 31 December®

132,684

7,000,000

s (7.358.082)

900 358.082
133,584 -

* During the vear ended 31 December 2024, net assets attributable to unitholders are classified as a liability and during the
vear ended 31 Decomber 2023, net assets attributable o unitholders are classificd as equity.

A breakdown of the Fund's equity balance for the period ended 31 December 2023 is disclosed in the table below:

Redeemable Retained
I LS Dallars share capital carnings Total
MNet assets attributable to unitholders at 16 September 2022
{date of commencement of operations) & . =
Issusance of redecmable units 7 000,000 - 7000000
Redemption of redeemable units (7000, 000) (358,082) (7.358.082)
Increase in net assels attributable 1o unitholders - 358.082 358,082

Met assets attributable to unitholders at 31 December 2023

Accompanyving notes are an integral part of the financial statements,

8
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Cash Flows
Sor the year ended 31 December 2024

For the period from

16 September 2022
(date of
For the commencement
year ended of aperations) to
In US Dollars MNotes 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Increase in net assets attributable o unitholders W} 358,082
Adjnstments for:
Interest income - (21)
Net realised gains on financial assets at fair value through
profil or loss - (24.213)
Net unrealised gains on financial assels at Gair value
through profit or loss {1.4360) (479.662)
Net foreign exchange losses on cash and cash equivalenis 40 952
(496} (144,862)
(Decrease)inerease i other pavables (57.680) H9.010
Sale/(purchase) of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 6155735 {6, 7D (M0}
Cash generated from/{used in) operations 0,097,559 (6,865,852)
Imierest reccived - 21
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activitics 6097559 {6.865,831)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of redecmable unmils 7 132,684 7000, 000
Payment on redemption of redecmable units 7 (6,346,753} =
Net cash (used in)/gencrated from financing activities (6.214.069) 7 0
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16,5100 134,169
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period 133217 -
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents {4 (952)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year/period 4 16,667 133,217
Non-cash flows from operating and financing activitics
Mon-cash sale of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss 1.011,329 -
MNon-cash redemption of redeemable units (1.011,329) -

Accomparying rotes are an integral part of the financial siatemenis,
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

1. General information

Jewel Box Fund {the “Fund") is an open-ended unit trust established by the Trusi Dieed and is registered as an exempied
trust under the Trust Act (Revised) of the Cayviman Islands on 18 March 2022, The Fund has been established Cor a linite
pericd and will tenninate 149 vears after its esiablishment uniess terminated carlier, The Fund was registered under
Section 4(3) of the Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on | June 2022 with registration number
1976214 and commenced opertions on 16 Seplember 2022,

The Fund has been strectured as an investment fund (o allow its unitholders o collectively invest in accordance with the
invesiment objective and sirategies. The invesiment objective of the Fund is to pursue siable retums in mid-long term,
mintaining low comelalion with traditional assel classes, by diversified investments into alternative assets in the fonm of
fund of funds. In order to achieve the investment objective, the Investment Manager will invest the asscts of the Fund
primarily in underlving funds of privale market or allernative sirlegics.

The mvestment activities of the Fund ane managed by TORANOTEC Assel Management Lid, (e “Investment
Manager™), and the administration of the Fund is delegaed to Apex Fund Serviees (Cayman) Lad, (the = Adminisirator™),

r Material accounting policies
The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below,
2.1 Basis of preparation

Thee financial statements of the Fund hive been preparcd in sccordance wilh IFRSY Accounting Standards (“IFRS™) and
the requirements of the Trust Deed. [FRS compnise the following authoritative literature:

+ IFRS Accounting Standards

« 1AS® Spandards

« Inierpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC*® Interpretations) or its predecessor body, the
Standing Inerpretations Commitiee (SIC* Interpretations).

The financial statements have been preparcd on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss, which are measured 3 their fair valoe,

Thee preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of cerlain critical accounting cstimates,
In also regquires the Trustee (o exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies. The areas
imvolving a higher degree of judgement or complexity. or areas where assumptions and cstimates are significant 1o the
financial statcments, are disclosed in Mote 3,

The Investmen Manager commits io cover all or a portion of the Fund's operating costs, as may be necessary., 10 ensure
the continuity of the Fund in the next twelve months after the vear ended 31 December 2024, The Investment Manager
has no reason o believe that the Fund will not continge a5 a going concemn in the vear ahead and has adopted the going
concemm basis in preparing the financial statements. The Investment Manager has established that there is no maternial
uncertainty that casts doubt on the ability of the Fund to continue as o going concem.

22 Mew standards, amendments and interpretations
{ep Stencards and amendinents o existing standardys effeetive | Janwary: 2024
+ Classification of Liabilities as Currént or Non-Current and Mon-Current Liabilities with Covenants - Amendments 1o
IAS 1
The Fund has adopted ihe above siandard and interpretation, and the amendment did not have a material effect on the

fimancial statements of the Fund. The adoption did not result in any substantial changes to the Fund's secounting policies
bt may affect e accounting for fulurt rAnsaclions or Arrangements.
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
12 New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

(B} Stemdards, amendments and inferpretations that are mof ver effective and have not been early adopied by the Fund

A mumber of new standards. amendments w0 standards and imerpretations are effective for periods beginning

on or gfter 1 January 2024 and have nol been early adopted in prepaning these Nnancial sialements.

+ |FRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2027

» Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments = Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, and Annual
Improvements o IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 (effective | January 2026)

+ JAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Annual Improvements io IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 - Cost meilwod
{effective | January 2026)

Mone of the above new standards, amendments 1o standards and interpretations are expecied to have a material effect on
the financial statements of the Fond. The above standards and amendments will be adopted by the Fund when applicable
and effective.

23 Structured entities

A strectured enfity is an nnlit} that has been designed so that voling or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity. such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant
activities are directed by means of contracinal armmgements. A structured entity often has some or all of the following
features or atiributes: (a) restricted activities, (b) a narmow and well-defined objective, such as to provide imvestment
opponunitics for investors by passing on nisks and newands associated with the assets of the structured entity to invesiors,
(<) insufMicient equity to permit the structured entity 19 Nnance s activities without subordinated financial support and
{d) Minancing in the fonm of multiple conraciually linked instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or
other nsks (tmnches).

The Fund considers all its investments in other funds (“Trvestee Funds™) to be investments in unconsolidated struciured
entitics. The Fund invests in Investee Funds whose objectives range from aclicving mediom 1o long teom capital growth,
The Investee Funds are managed by unrelated asset managers and apply vanous investment strategics 1o accomplish their
respective investment objectives. The Investee Funds finance their operations by issuing limited partnership interests or
redeemable umits which are puttable at the holder’s option and enfitles the holder to a proportional stake in the respective
fund’s net assets. The Fund holds limited paninesship interests or redeemable units in cach of its Investee Funds.

The change in fair value of cach Investee Fund 15 included in the Siatement of Comprehensive Income in “net realised
gainsi(losses) on lnancial asscls al fair value through profit or loss” or ‘nel unrcalised gains/Alosses) on lnancial asscls
at Fair value through profit or loss’.

24 Forcign currency translation
e} Frnetional and preseniation careency

The Fund’s subscriptions and redemptions of redeemable units are denominated in United States Dollar (CUS Dallar™ or
“USE"), The performance of the Fund is measured and reported 1o investors in US Dollar. Management considers the US
Dollar as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and
conditions. The Mnancial statements are presented in US Dollar, which is the Funds functional and presentation curmency.

() Tranzoctions and baforces
Forcign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the Iransactions. Foreign curmency assets and labilines are translated into the funchonal currency using the exchange

e prevailing at the Statement of Financial Pesition daie, Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation are
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

r Material accounting policies (continued)
24  Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b Tremsactions cnd balances foontinted)

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating 1o cash and cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income within *net foreign exchange gains or losses on cash and cash equivalents®,

Foreign exchange gains or losses relating 1o the Minancial asscis and liabilities carmed a1 fair value through profit or loss
are presented in the Statement of Comprebiensive Income within ‘nel realised gains(losses) on lnancial assels al fair value
through profit or loss” or “net unrealised gains/(losses) on Ninancial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

25 Financial instruments
251  Classification

In accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, financial assets and liabilitics are classified into the following
measurcment Calcgorics:

« Those 1o be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCT™), and fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTEL"),
+ Those to be measured at amonised cost,

The classification of the calegories depends on the Fund's business model for managing financial assets and hiabilities,
and the contractual cash Mow characteristics of tse financial assets and lnancial liabilitics,

The Fund's investment in lnancial asseis and labilities is classilied a1 FVTPL, None of the Fend's lnancial assets and
liabilities are held at FVOCT at vear end,

Financial asseis are measured af fair vafue through profit or loss (“FVTPL") if:

+ [15 contrachal terms do not give nse (o cash Mows on specified dates that ane solely payvments of prncipal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount cutstanding; or

o 1105 nol held within a business model whose objective 15 enther to collect contractual cash Mows, or i both collect
comraciual cash fMows and sell; or

* Al initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FYTPL when doing so eliminates or signilicantly
reduces & measurcment or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise anse fmom measuring assels or linbilitics or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund classifics its investment in Invesiee Funds al FYTPL.

Finamciol assets measured af amortised cost

A financial assel is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a busincss model whose objective is to hold financial
assels to collect contractiual cash Nows and its contraciual terms give nse on specified dates to cash Nows that are solely
payments of principal and intenest on the principal amount outstanding. The Fund includes in this categorny cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial Habilitfes measured ot amorfised cost

This category includes all financial lisbilities, other than those measurcd at fair value through profit or loss, The Fund
includes in this category sccounts payable and accrued expenses.
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
25 Financial instruments {continued)
151 Recognition, derccognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the Irade-date, the date on which the Fund commils 1o
purchase or sell the investment. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value.
Transaction costs are expensed as incurmed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assels ane derccognised when the rights 1o receive cash Nows Trom the Nnancial assels have expired or have
been transfermed and the Fund has transfermed substantially all the risks and rewands of ownership.

Subsequent to initial recognition. all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Gains
and losses arising from changes in the Gair value of the “Ieancial asses at fir valoe through profit or loss” categony ane
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within the “net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) in fair valug
on [inancial assels al fair value through profit or loss” in the period in which they ange.

2.5.3 Fair value measurement principles

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received (o sell an asset or paid o tmnsfer a lability in an orderdy
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under cument market conditions.

Financinl asscts and fnancial liabilities al fair valoe through profil or loss are recorded in the Statement of Financial
Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss of the Statement
of Comprehensive loome.,

The fair value of lnancial assets and liabilities tmded in active markets are based on quoted market prices al e close of
trading on the reporting date. The Fund utilises the last tmded market price for bath financial assets and financial liabilitics
where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. In circumstances where the last traded price is not within the
bid-ask spread. management will determine the point within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilitics that are not traded in an active market 15 determined using valuation
techniques. The Fund uses a variely of méthods and makes assumptions that are based on markel conditions existing at
cach neponing date. Valuation icchnigues used include the use of comparable recent ordinary trnsactions between market
participants, refercnce to other instniments that are substantially the same and other valuation technigues commonly vsed
by market participants naking the maxunuwm use of markel inputs and relving as liltle as possible on entily -specific inpuis,

The Investment Manager may, al ils discretion, permit any other method of valuation 1o be used il they conssder that such
method of valuation better reflects fair value and is in accordance with sound accounting practice.

254  Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

There were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hicrarchy during the year/period ended 31 December 2024
amd 31 December 2023,
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

2, Material accounting policies (continued)
26 Expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortised cost

Al each reponting date, the Fund shall measure the loss allowance on financial assets measured al amonised cost at
an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk has incrcased significamtly since initial
recognition, IF, at the reporting date, the credil risk las nol increased significantly since initial secognilion, the Fund
shall measure the loss allowance al an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. Significant financial
difficultics of the counterparty. probability that the counterparty will enter bankmptey or linancial reoreanisation, and
default in payvments is all considered indicaiors that amounts may be credit impaired, I the credit risk increases to
the point that il is considered 1o be credil impaired, interest income will be caleulated based on the nel carrving
amount (after deduction of the loss allowance). A significant increase in credit nsk is defined by management as any
contraciual pavinent which is more than 30 davs past due, Ay contractual payment which is more than 90 davs past
due is considered credit impaired.

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents include deposits held at call with banks and other short-term investments in an active market
with original maturitics of three months or less.

18 Acerued expenses

Accrued expenses are recognised initially a1 fair value and subsequently stated at amontised cost using the effective
interest method.

19 Redeemable interest in the Fund

The Fund issues two classes (2023: one class) of redeemable units. which are redecmable 51 the unitholder’s option. Such
redeemable units are classificd as liabilities (2023: equity). In the cument vear. the Fund reclassificd redesmable units
from equity 1o liabilitics as the Fund has more than one class of redecmable units in issue which do not have idemtical
rights and is redecmable at the unithelder's option. Redeemable units can be redeemed at any Redemption Day as the
Trustee may determine for cash equal (o a proportionate share of the Fund's nel assel value,

The redeemable units ane carred al amortised cost which cormesponds 1o the redemplion amount that is payvable at the
Statement of Fimancial Position date il the unitholder excreises (he right to redecin units. Redecmable unils anc issucd and
redeemed at the unitholder’'s option at prices based on the Fund's net asset value per share at the time of issue or
redemption. The Fund's net assel value per share 15 caleulaied by dividing the nel asscls atinbutable to the unitholders of
each class of redeemable units with the total number of outstanding redeemable units for each respective class. In
accordance with the provisions of the Fund's regulations, investment positions are valued based on the last traded market
price for the purpose of determining the net asset valug per share for subscriptions and redemplions,

210 Distribution income

Disinbuiion ingome from Investee Funds is recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income on
U cistrbaetion date which is the date when the Fund's rght 1o receive payment is established.

211 Taxafion

The Fund is not subject 1 any income, withholding or capital gains taxes in the Cavman Islands. The Fund is registered
a5 an exempted trust pursuant to section 74 of the Trust Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Fund has applied for
a lax exemplion certificate from the Financial Secretary of the Cayiman Islands, which, if granted. will provide that. for a
period of up 1o 50 years from the date of the creation of the Fund. no law that is thercafer enacted in the Cayiman [slands
imposing any fax or duty to be levied on income or on capilal assels, gains, or appreciation or any tax in the nature of
estate duly or inheniance tax will apply to any propery compnsed in the Fund, or to any income ansing under the Fund
or 1o the Trustee or to the unitholders in respect of any such property or income,

14
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

2 Material accounting policies (continued)
211 Taxation {(continued)

Unitholders will not be subject to any income, withholding or capital gains taxes in the Cayman Islands, with respect to
the redeemable units owned by them and distributions received on such redeemable units, nor will they be subject to any
estale or mhentance taxes in the Cayman Islands,

It i possible that cerain dividends, interest and other income received by the Fund from sources within certain countrics
will be subject 1o withholding iaxes imposed by such countrics. In addition, ihe Fund may also be subject to capital gains
taxes or olher axes in some of the countries where il purchases and sells seconities or otherwise conducts business. 1L is
impossible to predict in advance the mie of tax that will be paid since the amount of the asscts of the Fund to be imvested
in various countrcs is uncertain,

3 Use of significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS nequires the Trostes o make judgements. eslimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policics and the reported amounts of assets. liabilities, income and
expenses. Estimates and underdying assumplions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o accounling csimates ang
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in amy future periods affected.

Estimates and assumptions

Management makes estimates and assumplions conceming (he fulure. The resulling accounting estimates will, by
definition. scldom equal the related actual results, The estimates and assumptions that have a significant sk of causing a
material adjustment 1o the carmving amounts of assels and liabilities are outlined below,

Fair velue of ivestments in other finds

The fair value of investments in Invesiee Funds that are not quoted in an active market is determined by the net assel
vakue issued by the administrators of the [nvestee Funds, as the net asset value represents the price at which the Fund can
redoem its investments in such Investee Funds at the end of reporting period, The Investment Manager considers the
above valuation approach as the best estimate of the fair valug of the Iivestee Fumds,

Il the net asset value of the Investee Funds is nol available or the Investment Manager considers thal such nel assct value
is ot reflective of the fair value, the Investment Manager may exercise judgment and discretion to determing the fair
vilue of the Ivestes Funds, The Fund may determine ihe value of Invesice Funds using its own models, winch are usually
based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry,

Models use observable data, 1o the extent practicable, However, arcas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty).
volatilitics and correlations require management 1o make estimates. Changes in assunglions aboul these [actors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The sensitivily to unobservable inputs is based on the expectation
ol reasonable possible shifls in these inputs, tking inte consideration historical volatility and estimations of luiwre markel
mMovements.

The determination of what constituies “observable” requires significant judgement by the Fund, The Fund considers

observable data 1o be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated. reliable and verifiable, not
proprictary, and provided by independent sources that are actively imvolved in the relevant market,
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4. Cash and cash cquivalents

In US Dodlars 2024 2023
Trading accounts 16,667 133.217
16667 133,217

5. Financial assets at fair valoe through profit or loss
In US Dollars 2024 2023
Investee Funds 128.247 7293875
128,247 7,293,875

6. Other payables

In U Dalfars 2024 2023
Management fee pavable 235 13,149
Organisation cxpenses pavable - 300
Professional fees payable 192 -
Pavable 1o manager 10,203 -
Audit fee payable - 44375
Legal fees pavable - 11,186
11,330 69,010

7. Met assets attributable to unitholders

The Fund was established as an open-ended unit trust with an initial sum of US$ 100 which was received by the Trustee and
will be held by the Trostee on belwlf of the Fund,

The Trustee may at any time and (rom time o time, designate a class of units with such nghts. preferences and limitations
a5 the Trustee, in consuliation with the Management Company and the Investment Manager, may determine. Redecmable
units may be issued on a subscription day (i.c. the first business day of each calendar month andfor such other days as the
Management Company, in comsultation with the Trustee and the Trvestment Manager may determing) in different closses
by the Management Company on behalf of the Trustee in accordance with the Trust Deed. which are denominated in either
US Dollar or Japanese Yen (“JPY™). The offering price for USD-class units: Class 1-USD, Class R-USD and Class P-USD
units is LS5 10 per unit and JPY-class units: Class [-IPY and Class B-JPY is JPY 1000 per unit,

The minimum initial investment per unitholder in Class [ units or Class R units is US$100,000 {or currency equivalent) and
for Class P-USD units is 51,000,000 or such lesser amount a5 (the Trostee may generally or inany particular case determiine,
provided that such lesser amount is consistent with the Fund being registered under section 4(3) of the Mutual Funds Act
as may be amended Mom tme o tme, The nunimum additional subscriplion amount in respect of Class I units or Class R
units is US$10.000 (or currency equivalent) and for Class P-USD units is USES00,000,

For the vear ended 31 December 2024, Class R-JPY and Class R-USD units have been issued and for the period from 16
Seplember 2022 (date of commencement of operations) (o 31 December 2023, only Class P-USD unils have been issucd,
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Met assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

The analvsis of movements in the number of redeemable units and net assels attributable to unitholders during the
vearpeniod is a5 [ollows:

For the year ended For the period ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
JURTE Class R-JPY  Class R-USD Total  Class P-USD Total
Tssuveed sonedd furdly pocicd mumber of wnits
Balance at beginning of the
vear/period - - - - -
Issuance of redecmable units 4,000 10,700 14,700 T, 000 TO0,000
Redemption of redecmable units - - - {700,000} (700,000}
Balance at the end of the
vearfperiod 400 10,7040 14,700 = =

For the year ended For the period ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
In US Dellars Class R-IPY _Class R-USD Total  Class P-USD Total
Issued and fully paid redeemable units
Balance at beginning of the
year/period . - - - -
Tssuanes of redecmable unils 25,684 107,000 132,684 T.000,000 7,000,000
Redemption of redeemable units - - - {(7358,082)  (7,358,082)
Increase in nel assels altributable
1o unitholders 13 HAT L] I5R.082 I5B082
Balance at the end of the
vear/period 15,697 107,887 133,584 - -

Redeemable units may be redecmed on the nedemiption date (i.e. the first business day in cach of Jonwary, April, July
and October in each vear andior such other days as the Trustee may determing) at the net asset value per share upon
receiving 65 calendar days’ written netice prior 1o valuation date from a unitholder.

A redemption fee of five per cent (5%) will be deducted from the redemption proceeds payable on the redemption of
any Class [ omits, Class R oumits or Class P-USD units which have been inssue for less than 12 calendar months,

If a unitholder redecms nincty-live per cent (95%) or more of its units, the Fund may hold back and retain up to five
per cent (5%) of the redemplion procecds as a reserve against changes 1o the Net Asst Value calculated with respect
to that Redemption Day. The Trstee, in consuliation with the Investment Manager, will determing whether and what
percentage of redemption proceeds 1o retain. Any such retention shall be treated as a reduction of the Redemption
Price,

Il redemplion requests for the redemption of units in aggregate of more than 25% of the net assel value of the Fund,
the Management Company may reduce those redempiion requests rateably and pro rata amongst all unitholders secking
1o redeem units on the redemplion dale and 10 carry oul only sufficient redemplions whicly in aggregale, amount 1o the

redemption threshold. Redemption requests which are not satisficd in full will be carmied forward to the next redempiion
dane but will not have any priodly over other redemplion requests.
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8, Related parties

Panics are considered to be related if one party has the ability 1o control the other pary or exercise significant influence
over the other party in naking financial or operational decisions.

Relationships

Investment Manager: TORANOTEC Asscl Management Lid,
Management Company; Emerging Assel Management Lid,
Trustee: Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Lid.

Related pariy transactions and balances
Management fee

The Fund has appointed TORANOTEC Asset Management Ltd. as the Investment Manager to provide investment
manggement and advisory services 10 the Fund, Pursuant (o the imvestment management pgreement, the Investment
Manager will receive a management fee equal to one twelfth of 1.0% per quarter of the net asset value of Class [ units,
one twelfth of 1.1% per quaner of the net asset value of Class R umits and one twelfth of 0, 7% per quarier of the nel asset
value of Class P-USD units. The management fee will be calculaed monthly and will be payable quarterdy in armears.

Management fees incurred for the year amownted to US$235 and for the period from 16 September 2022 (date of
commencement of operations) 1o amounted o USS63 810, Mamagement fees pavable al 31 December 2024 amounted (o
US$235 (2023 USS13,149).,

TARANOTEC Assct Management provided USD 107,000 (2023:1580) initial subscription 1o class R-USD as sced
capital,

Trustee fee

The Trustee 15 entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Fund, a fee equal to the greater of (1) 0,02% of the MNet Asset
Value per annum and (i) USS15,000 per annum. For the vear ended 31 December 2024 and for the period from 16
September 2022 (date of commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023, Trustee fees were incurred by the
Imvestment Manager on behall of the Fund.

Management Company fee

The Mamagement Company is ¢ntitled to receive, out of the assets of the Fund, a foe of USS35,000 per annum. For the
vear cnded 31 December 2024 and for the period (rom 16 Seplember 2022 (date of commencement of operations) to 31
December 2023, Management Company fees were incurmed by the Invesiment Manager on behalf of the Fund.

9, Financial risk management

Effective risk management is in¢gral 10 the Fund’s objective of consistently adding value to unitholders. The focus of
risk management is on identifving, assessing. mamaging, and monitoring risk.

The Fund's activities expose it 1o a vanety of financial nsks: market nsk (including price nisk, currency nisk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

91  Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in the markel prices will affeet the Fund’s income or the value of its holdings of

finamcial instruments. The ebjective of marker risk management is 1o manage and control market risk exposures within
acceplable parametcrs, while oplimising the relum.

91/178



JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

.
4.1

%11

Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Price risk

EDINETOOOO
o o o o o =220 [0 [0k B
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Price rigk is the risk that the value of a limancial instroment Muctuates as a resull of changes in market prices of instniments
held whether caused by factors specific to the underying investments of the Fund. its issuer or all factors affecting all

instruments traded in the market,

The Fund is exposed 1o price risk on investmenis beld in Investee Funds which presents a risk of loss of capital. The
Investment Manager moderates this risk through diversification and selection of investments by investing in underlying

funds which are listed or otherwise intended 10 be realised.

The Fund's investment in Investee Funds as disclosed in Nete 5 of these financial statememts are subject to price nisk.

Assuming that all other variables remain constant. a reasonably possible weakening in the individual marker prices of
10% at 31 December 2024, would result in g decrease in the net assels sttributable to unitholders of USS12 825 (2023,
US$729.388), which represents 9.6% (2023: 9.8% before redemption) of the Fund’s net assets.

A strengthening of individual markel prices would have an equal but opposite ffect.

Al 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the exposure to ivestments in Investee Funds at fair value greater than
10% of the net assets by strategy emploved and exposure 10 various geographical regions is disclosed in the following

lable.
Geographical
In US Deflars Stritegy region Fair value % of net asscis
31 December 2024
Prism Income Fund Private debt fund Maunitius 125.247 0%
128,247 901 %0
Yo of net assets
Geographical before
In U5 Doltars Strategy region Fair value redemption
31 December 2023
Arixa Enhanced Income Fund Offshore Real estate United States
Feeder debt fund of Amenca 2,200,625 30.03%
GSA Coral Ponifolio 5.C. A SICAV-SIF
- Coral Student Portfolio Fund of funds Luxembourg 2,225,049 30.24%
Montreux Healthcare Fund Lid Private equity fund  United Kingdom 1.001,529 3.75%
Prism Income Fund Private debt fund Maurnitins 1. 847872 25,1 1%
T.293.875 99.13%
19
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9. Financial risk management (continued)
a1 Market risk (continued)
9.1.2  Currency risk

Currency risk, as defined in IFRS 7, arises as the value of future transactions, recognised monctany assels and monctary
liabilities denominated in other curmencies fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. IFRS 7 considers the foreign
exchange exposure relating 1o non-mongtary assels and liabilitics to be a component of market price rsk and not foreign
currency risk, However, the Investiment Manger monitors the exposure on all foreign currency denominated assets and
libilitics.

When the Tnvestment Manager formulates a view on the future direction of foreign exchange rates and the potential impact
on the Fund, the Investment Manager factors that into their investment portfolio allocation decisions, While the Fund has
dircct exposure 1o forcign exchange mie changes on the price of non-US Dollar denominated scouriies, it may also be
indireetly affecied by the impact of foreign exchange ralc changes on the carnings of certain companics in which the Fund
invests, even if those companies” securilies are denominated in USE. The lnvestiment Manager regulardy monilors the
Fund’s monetary and non-monctary foreign exchange exposure.

At 31 December 2024, the Fund held cash and cash equivalents amounting to USS 1,035 (2023: USS341) denominated in
a currency other than the US Dollar,

Assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 5%6(2023: 5%) weakening of the US Dollar against forcign currencics
al the reporting date, would have decreased nel assels allribuiable to unitholders by USE53 (2023: USS17).

9.1.3  Interest rate risk

Interest male risk is (he nsk that the Gair valoe or fuure cash Dows of a lnancial mstrument will Oueteate a5 8 resull of
changes in interest rates.

Mo sensitivity of the Fund's profit or loss for the vear/period has been presented as the Fund did not hold any invesiments
that are affected by changes in interest mics.

The Fund is subjected to limited exposure (o fair value cash flow and interest rate risk due to Muctuations in prevailing
levels of markel inlerest rates.

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents consists of intencst-bearing bank deposits. As these deposits are invested in shor-
term markel inferest rates accounts, the Investment Manager considers the movement i interest mites will not have
significant cash flow impact on the net assets attributable to unitholders at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 and
accordingly, have not presented 3 sensitivity analvsis,

9.2 Liguidity risk

Liquidity nisk is the risk that the Fund may not be able (o generate sufficient cash resources to selile its obligations in full
as they fall due or can only do 5o on terms that are materially disasdvantageous. The Fund is exposed w gquanerly cash
redemplions of redecmable wnits,

The Fund may periodically imvest in unlisied investec funds that are nof traded in an active market. As a result, the Fund
may nod be able to quickly liquidate its investments in these instraoments at an amount close (o their fair value to meet its
liquidity requirgments or be able 10 respond to specific events such as deteriortion in the creditworthiness of any
particular issuer,

The Fund's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will alwavs have sufficient liquidity 1o
meet its lighilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incuming unacceptable losses or nsking
damage to the Fund's reputation. Liguidity risk is monitored by the Investment Manager in accordance with policies and
procedures in place. The Fund's redemption policy stipulates that unitholders must provide 65 davs’ notice prior 10
valuation date relevant 1o the redemption date.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Liguidity risk {continued)

The following able discloses (he relevant matunly groupings based on the remaining period, ot the Siatement of Financial
Position date to the contractual matunity date;

Less than 7 days to 1to12  More than
In L8 Dolfars 7 days 1 month months 12 months  Suspended
31 December 2024
Contractual cash infllows
Financial assets at fair value through
profil or loss - - 128 247 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 16,667 - - - -
Contractual cash outflows
Other payvables - - (11,3309 - -
Ml assels attnbulable 0 redecmable
unitholders - - (133.584)
16,667 B (16,0667 & =
Liess than 7 days to 1to 12  More than

I US Dollars 7 days 1 month months 12 months __ Suspended
31 December 2023
Comtractual cash inflows
Financial asscts al [air value through
profit or loss - - 6,282,546 - 1011329
Cash and cash equivalents 133.217 - - - -
Contractual cash outflows
Redemplion pavable - = (7.3580821) - -
Other pavables - - {69.010% = -

133,217 = (1,144.546) - 1,011,329

*This relates to Montreux Healthcare Fund Lid ("Montrenx™), Monmtreux holds an investment in a private healthcane
provider, the Active Care Group ("ACG™). through its underlving master fund ("Master Fund™). ACG s the sole
underlying investment of Montreusx,

The Master Fund provided notification w0 investors dated 3 October 2022, that ACG is not in a position 10 support its
current level of investment and a process was initiated to dispose of ACG. The process to dispose ACG commenced in
October 2022, The directors of the Master Fund concluded that, while the sale i1s being negotiated, they will not be ina
position 1o accurtely determing the fir value of ACG for he purposes of accuralcly processing subscriplions or
redemplions and have accordingly resolved that the Master Fund should enter inte a close penod with effect from 3
October 2022 1o allow the sale of ACG 10 be completed.

Agcording 1o the notice issued by Montreux to investors dated | Seplember 2023, following the ¢losur of the Master
Fund, the direciors of Montreux concluded that Montreux should enter inte a close period which commenced on 31 July
2023 1o protect investor capital. The closed period will continue until the date on which the sale of the ACG is cither
completed or terminated and the Master Fund reopens. The notice furiher siated that during the closed period, the NAY
of Montrenx will not be calculated, no new panicipating units will be available for subscription and no redemption
requests will be processed.

AL 31 December 2024, the investment holding in Montreux was distributed in=kind 10 the Fund's invesior effective |
January 2024 at a value of USS1.011.329.
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9, Financial visk management (continued)

9.3 Credit risk

Credit risk s the risk (that the counterparty (o a lnancial instnoment will cause a financial loss for the Fund by Diling o
discharge an obligation. The Fund is exposed o the nisk of crodit-related losses that can occur as a result of a counterpanty
or issuer being wiable or unwilling to honour its contraciual obligations on cash and cash equivalents. The Fund's policy
ovier credil nisk is to minimise ils credil exposune (o connterpartics with perceived higher nsk of defaull by dealing only
with counterparties meeling specific cnedit standards. Credit risk is monitored by the Invesiment Manager in accordance
with policies and procedures in place.

The Fund's activitics mav give rise 1o risk at the time of settlement of tansactions which exposes it to the risk of loss due
10 the Gilure of an entity 10 honour ils obligations to deliver cash, securitics or olher asscls as contrciually agreed. For
the majority of transactions. the Fund mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a broker therefore the risk of
defauli is considered minimal,

For msk mamigement purposes, the Fund considers and comsolidates all elements of credit risk expeosure (such as
individual default risk, country and sector risk). The Fund's maximom credit nisk exposure at the reporting date is
represented by the respective carrving amounts of the relevant financial assets in ibe Siatement of Financial Posilion.

Credit risk disclosures are segmented into two sections based on whether the underlying financial instroment is subject
1o IFRS 9's impairment disclosures or nol,

Fingreiol assers subject fo IFRS 9's impairment requiremenis

The Fund's Ninancial assets subject to the expected credit loss model within IFRS 4 are cash and cash equivalents. At 31
Deeember 2024 and 31 December 2023, no loss allowance has been provided and there were no significant concentrations
of credit risk 1o any individual issucr or group of issuers nor were any financial assets carmed at amortised cost past due
or impaired and no amounts have been wrtten off,

Financial assels nol subject lo RS W' impairment requirements

Al 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Fund is exposed 1o credit nisk on investments in lovestee Funds and
are nod subject to IFRS 95 impairment requircments as they are measured at FVTPL. The carrving value of these assets,
under IFRS 9 represents e Fund's maximum exposure 16 credil risk on [inancial instraments nol subject 1o the IFRS 975
impairment requirements at the reporting date. Hence, no separite maxinmim exposure o credit nsk disclosure is provided
Tor these instnuments.

The maximum credit exposure and counterparty credit ratings, as rated by Standard & Poor's are as follows:

2024 023
S&P Raling LSS S&P Raling LSS
Cash and cash cquivalents A-1 16,667 Al 133217

Mo credit matings were available for imvestment in Invesiee Funds, however the Investment Manager is of the opinion that
these Investee Funds have an acceptable credit quality.
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9. Financial risk management (continued)

94  Capital risk management

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable (o unitholders of redecmable units and shown in the
Statemcnt of Financial Position. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund's ability 1o
confinue as a going concem in order o provide relums for vnitholders, provide benefiis for other stakeholders and
maintain a strong capital base to suppont the development of the investiment activities of the Fund.

In order 1o maintain the capital struciure, the Fund's policy i5 1o perfonm the [@llowing:

#  Monitor ihe level of quarerly subscriptions and redemptions relative 1o the asseis il expects to be able to liguidate
within the same time pericd.

» Redeem and issue new units in accordance with the offering documents of (he Fund, which include the ability to
restrict redemptions and require cenain minimum holdings and subscriptions.

The Trustee and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable 1o unitholders.

9.5 Fair value estimation

Fair value measurenrert
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at the close of
trading on the vear end date. The Fund wiilises the last traded market price for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability 1ake place with sufTicient frequency and volume
o provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Investments with readily avalable active quoted prices or for which
fair value can be measured wiih actively quoted prices generally will have a higher degree of market price observability
and a lesser degree of judgement used in measuring fair value,

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are nod iraded in an active markel is delermined by using valuation
techniques. For instruments for which there is no active market, the Fund may use intemally developed models. which
are nsually based on valuation methods and techmigues genemily recognised as standard within the industoy,

The output of 3 model is abways an estimate or approximation of a value that cannod be determined with certainty. and
valmtion weehnigques emploved may not fully reflect all factors relevant o the positions the Fund holds. Valuations ane
therefore adjusted, where appropriang, 10 allow for additional factors including model nisk, liquidity nsk and coumermpary
risk.

IFRS 13 requires enhanced disclosures about investments that are measured and reported at fair value. IFRS 13 establishes
a hoerarchucal disclosure framework which priontises and ranks the level of market price observability used in measuning
imvestments at fair value, Market price observability is impacted by several factors, including the tvpe of investment and
ez charscteristics specilic (o the investment,

Valuation of wvestments in Invesice Funds

The Fund's inmvestments in Investee Funds are subject to the terms and conditions of the respective Tnvestee Fund's
offering documentation. The investments in Investee Funds are valued based on the latest available redemption price of
such units for each Investee Fund, as determined by the Investee Funds® administrators. The Fund reviews the details of
the reported information abtained From the Investee Funds and considers:

the liquidity of the Investee Fund or its underlving investments:

the value date of the net assel value (NAV) provided;

any restrictions on redemptions; and

the basis of accounting and, in instances where the basis of accounting is other than fair value, [air valuation
information provided by the Investes Fund's advisors,

L B
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9. Financial risk management (continwed)
9.5  Fair value estimation {continued)
Fir valiee measurenent feoniinued)

The fair value of investments in Investee Funds. classificd as financial asscts al fair value through profit or loss, for which
tezre is not an available gquoted price is based on the curremnt net asset value or net assel value per share as reporied by
their respective administrators of such funds.

Asat 31 December 2024, 1008 (2023 1009%) of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise investmants
in Investee Funds thit have been Fair valued in accordance with the policies sel oul above. The sharcs of the Inveslee
Funds are not publicly traded. redemplion can only be made by the Fund on the redemption dates and subject to the
required notice periods specilicd in the offering documenis of cach of the Invesice Funds. The rights of the Fuid o request
redemption of its imestments in Investee Funds may vary in frequency for redemptions. As a result, the camying values
of the Investee Funds may not be indicative of the values ultiimately realised on redemption. In addition, the Fund may be
materially affecied by the actions of other investors who have invested in the Investee Funds in which the Fund has
invested.

The Tovestee Funds are not trded on an active market and their fair value is determined wsing valuation technigues. The
value is primarily based on the latest available net asset value of the [nvestee Fund as reported by the administrator of
such Investee Fund.

IFRS 13 requires the Fund to classily fair value measurements using a fair value hicranchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilitics that the entity can
Access a1 the measurement dale,

* Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

+ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability,

The level in the fair value hicrarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined
on (ke basis of the lowest level nput Ut 15 significant © the fair value measurcment in its entirely. For (his purpose, the
significance of an inpul is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses
observable inpats that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs. that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input 10 the fair value measurement in its entingty requires
Judgement, considering factors specific o the asset or liability,

The determingtion of what constitutes “ohservable” requires significant judgement by the Fund, The Fund considers
observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and venifiable, not
proprictary, supported by markel tmnsactions, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the

rekevant market,
The following table analyses, within ihe fair value hicrarchy the Fund's financial asscis measured at fair value ai 31
December 2024:
In U8 Diollars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal

31 December 2024

Fimancial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investee Funds - - 128.247 128.247

= 3 128,247 128,247
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9, Financial risk management (continued)

95 Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table analyses. within the fair value hierarchy the Fund's financial asseis measured at Cair value m 31

December 2023:

I US Dellears Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 December 2023

Fingmngial assets ot fair value through profit or loss

Investee Funds - - 7,293,875 7293875
- - T,293.875 1,293,878

The Investee Funds are nod quoted in active markels and were [air valved using the net asset value of the Tvestee Fund,
as reporied by the respective Investee Fund's administrator. For these Investee Funds, management believes the Fund
could have redeemed its investiment al the net asset value per shane at the Statement of Financial Position date.

The investment classified within Level 3 is comprised of a single Investes Fund, which was fair valued with reference to
the net assct valug as reported by the Tivestee Fund's administrtor,

The Investment Manager regularly reviews Level 3 valuations and considers the appropriateness of the valuation model
inipiits, as well as the valuation resull using vanous vahembon methods and lechniques generally recogmised as standard
within the industry. In selecting the most appropriate valuation model the Investment Manager performs back testing and
considers which model s resulis hirve historically aligned most closely to actual market transactions.

Sensitivily analvsis lo significant changes tn unobservable inpuis within Level 3 hierarchy

The significant unobscrvable inpuis used in the fair value measurement catcgorised within Level 3 of the fair value
higrarchy together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is shown below:

Reaxonable
Fair value at passible shifi Changein

31 December 2024 Valuation  Unobservable Hf- valuation
Deseription Uss technigue input_ (absolute value) -
Prism Income Fund 128,247  Netasscivalue  Molapplicable  Notapplicable  Not applicable

Reasonable
Fair value at possible shift Change in

31 December 2023 Valuation  Unobservable +f- viluation
Deseription IS5 technigue it (sbsolite value) +/-
Arixa Enhanced
Income Fund
Offshore Feeder 2209625 MNetasselvalue  Motapplicable  Notapplicable  Not applicable
GSA Coral Pontfolio
S5.C.A SICAV-SIF -
Coral Student
Portfolio 2225049 Metassetvalue  Motapplicable  Notapplicable Mot applicable
Montreux Healthcare
Fomd Lid 1,011,329  Metassetvalue  Notapplicable  Notapplicable  Not applicable
Prism Income Fund 1.847.872 Metasseivalue  Notapplicable  Notapplicable Mot applicable

7293875
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JEWEL BOX FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNotes to the Financial Statements
Sor the pear ended 31 December 2024

9. Financial risk management (continued)

95 Fair value estimation (continued)
Valwation rechmique

The Fund's Investiment Manager considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing this Investee Fund. to
ensure it is reasonable and appropriate and therefore the net asset value of this Investee Fund may be used a8 an inpul inlo
measuring its fair value, Transactions in the shares of such a fund do not cccur on a regular basis. In measuring this fair
vitlug, the net asset value of the Investee Fond 15 adjusted, as necessary, 1o reflect resirictions on nedemptions, lock up
period, future commitmenis and other specific factors of the Investee Fund and its Investment Manager.

Falnation process

The Trustee has reviewed the latest valuations based on their knowledge of the wvestment market. The valuation
assessment was based on public information and reflects existing facts and conditions as of 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, The valuation assessmenl is also subject 1o quality review procedures performed by the Investment
Manager. The Investment Manager verifics the major inputs applicd inthe Etest valuation by agrecing the information in
the valuation computation 1o relevant documents and market information,

The following table presents the reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of level 3 instruments as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023,

In US Doltars 2024 2023
Opening balance 7,293 875 -
Purchase of Investee Funds 126,811 0,814,213
Sale of Investee Funds (7.293,875) -
Met unrealised gains on financial assets at fair valee through profit or loss 1,430 AT662
Closing balance 128,247 7.293.875

Change in unrealised gains or losses for Level 3 assets held at vear end and
inchuded in net unrcalised gains on financial assels a1 fir valoe through profi
or loss 1436 479,662

There were no transfers between the levels during the vear ended 31 December 2024 and during the period from 16
September 2022 (daie of commencement of operations) to 31 December 2023,

0. Events after reporting dite
During the period between (he reporting date and the date of approval of these linancial statlements, a total of 2,887 Class
R-USD redecmable units were issued amounting to US$29.361. There has been no redemptions or distributions after vear
end.
The direciors have established that there is no matenal uncertainty that casls doubl on ihe ability o continue as a going
concern and are not aware of any other material events which occurred after the reponting date and up 1o the date of
approval of these financial siatcmenis.

11. Approval of the financial statements

The Ninancial statements were approved and authonsed for issue by the Trustes on 18 Jung 2025,
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2025

165,690.58 24,774,056
11,124.26 1,663,299
154,566.32 23,110,756

4,000

12,606

975.7167
10.1955 1,524
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2025
140 462,000 6,908
140
1981
1981
1981
50 2
1
1981

1981 2008 11
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2023 12 31
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
9 600 90 600 90
600 9 600 90
11 817,121 122,176 587,043 87,775
16 90,770 13,572 28,523 4,265
907,891 135,748 615,566 92,039
908,491 135,838 616,166 92,129
12 209,625 31,343 126,692 18,943
13 198,009 29,606 65,943 9,860
407,634 60,949 192,635 28,803
500,857 74,888 423,531 63,326
14 140 21 140 21
15 461,860 69,057 461,860 69,057
38,857 5,810 (38,469) (5.752)
500,857 74,888 423,531 63,326
2024 6 28
2023 12 31

2023 2022
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1,338,646 200,154 1,105,430 165,284

247,929 37,070 262,102 39,189

1,586,575 237,225 1,367,532 204,473

377,056 56,377 375,409 56,131

632,193 94,525 604,549 90,392

1,009,249 150,903 979,958 146,523

/ 577,326 86,322 387,574 57,950

2023 12 31

2022 1 1 140 21 361,860 54,105 (26,043) (3,894) 335,957 50,232
/

- - - - 387,574 57,950 387,574 57,950

10 - - - - (400,000) (59,808) (400,000) (59,808)

100,000 14,952 100,000 14,952

2023 1 1 140 21 461,860 69,057 (38,469) (5,752) 423,531 63,326
/

- - - - 577,326 86,322 577,326 86,322

10 - - - - (500,000) (74,760) (500,000) (74,760)

2023 12 31 140 21 461,860 69,057 38,857 5,810 500,857 74,888

2023 12 31
2023 2022

577,326 86,322 387,574 57,950

(230,078) (34,401) (61,530) (9,200)

82,933 12,400 53,260 7,963

132,066 19,747 21,351 3,192
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562,247 84,067 400,655 59,906
(500,000) (74,760) (400,000) (59,808)
(500,000) (74,760) (400,000) (59,808)
62,247 9,307 655 98
28,523 4,265 27,868 4,167
16 90,770 13,572 28,523 4,265
2023 12 31
2008 11 3 1981
- 2
- @
- ©))
- 2024
31
- 2023 3 1

(Jewel Box Fund)

(Global Alternative Strategy Fund)
2023 12 31 2024 3
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a)
FVTPL
ECLs

ECLs
b)
Q)
(i)

ECLs —
IFRS 9

12 ECLs 12 ECLs
ECLs ECLs

12 ECLs ECLs
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International Accounting Standards Board

IAS 1 IFRS 2

1AS

IFRS 1AS

IAS 8

IAS

4b. IFRS

IFRS
2024 1 1

IAS 1
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12
2024 1 1
IASB IAS 1 2022 2020
2022

2023 2022
1,338,646 1,105,430

2023 2022
200,796 240,557
47,133 20,920
- 625
247,929 262,102

2023 2022
12,000 12,000
8,826 8,932
143,040 117,459
39,231 7,499
152,466 169,752
52,968 -
94,127 20,000
22,818 18,979
1,937 936
- 49,350
23,814 23,609
/ 78,762 80,029
(175) 1,087
4,800 4,500
6,000

/ (2,441) 84,417
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632,193 604,549

2023 2022

377,056 375,409

500
100

600

)
100
100
100

100

100
100

50 2022 40

2023 12 31 2022 12 31

564,996 380,095
100,000 100,000
136,665 103,817
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14.
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2022 12 31

2023 12 31

2017 8 29

2022

2023 12 31

2022 12 31

111,900

100,000
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15,460 3,131
817,121 587,043
17
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
209,625 126,692
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
600 600
197,409 65,343
198,009 65,943
17
2023 2022
140 140
1 140
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
461,860 461,860

(GC Agile Intermediate Holdings Limited)

349,960

2022 111,900
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19.

(GC Agile Intermediate Holdings Limited)

Genstar GP
13

2022 12 31

2023 12

31
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31
90,770 28,523
2023 1 1 - 2022 1 1 -
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,338,646 1,105,430
247,929 262,102
423,184 419,704
173,895 173,456
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2003
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A 2023 A

Investment Business Act 2003
Class B Registered Person

B
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Docuign Ersesbope 10 DEOMMDE-O0EN-44 1 Sh01-DESBTFCTHINC

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.
Statement of financial position

31 December 2023
Nohes 3 Dec 31 Dec
2023 2002
uspD usD
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
MNon-current assels
Investments in subsidiarios 9 600 800
600 800
Current assols
Trade and ciher recelables 1 LAF A3 587,043
Cash and cash equivalents 16 90,770 28,523
§07.891 615,566
Total asssts 08,401 B16,1606
Current liabilities
Trade and othar payabios 12 209,625 126,562
Otner financinl Eabilties 13 198,009 65,043
Total lisbilities 407,624 102 538
Met assels 500,857 423,551
EQUITY
Share capilal 14 140 140
Qther oquiy 15 481,860 461,860
Retainad mﬂm:ﬂmmﬂnﬂ losses) 38,857 (38 469)
Total equity 500,857 423,50
_ _

These Minancial statements were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issuc
on 28 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

i

Director

The noles o ihe fnancial stalemenis form an infegral part of these financial steterneénts
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DocuBign Ervvbops 1D DEOMALEDEE B4 25 SAL-BESR TF CTA0C

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December 2023

033 2002
Notes usD usD
R 5 1,138 646 1,105,430
Other operaling income [ 247,920 262,102
1,586,575 1,367 512
Operating expenses

Elaff costs 8 377,056 ATEADD
Olner operaling expenses 7 632,193 604 549
Tolal exponses 1,009,240 676,958

Profittolsl comprehensive
incomedloss for the year 577,326 387,574
—_ —_

The notes to the finarcial statements form an integral par of these financial stalements.
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DocuBiges Ervvabopes 1D DEOMALEDEE B4 28 SALS-DESR TF C TAS0E

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 Decamber 2023

Retained
Earnings/
Share Other Acumulated
capital equity losses Total
usD usp uso usn
Balance at 1 January 2022 140 361,660 {26,043) 335,957
Profittelal comprohansive
Incosme fof he ya . - 387 574 387,574
Payment of dividend (note 10) - - (400,000) {500.000)
Addition 1o other equity 100,000 : 100,000
Balance at 1 January 2023 140 461,860 (38 4E5) 423,51
Proftiotal comprehansivi
Income for the year - - 577,326 5T71.326
Paymaent of dividend (nota 10) . - (500, 000) (500.000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 140 461,860 38,857 500,857

The notes to the fnancial statements form an intogral part of these financiad statemeonts.
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DociBiges Ervvabops 1D DEOMALEIEE B4 25 SALJ-BESR TF C TAI0C

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2023

033 2032
usD usp
Cash flows from operating activitios
Total comprehensive incoma for the year 577,326 387,574
Movaman! i lrade ard other recaivablas {230,078) {81.530)
Movement in rade ard other payablos 82.933 53,260
Movemant in other financia! abilithes 132,066 21,35
Nel cash om aperatng acfintos 562,247 400 655
Cash flows used in financing activitios
Dividand payments to ordinary shareholdars (500,000) (400.000)
Net cash usad in financing activiliss {500,000) {400.000)
MNet movement in cash and cash
equivalents 62,247 655
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 28,523 27,868
Cesh and cash equivalents at the
end of the year (note 16) 90,770 28,523

Thir polés [ the fnancial slatemants form &n inlegral part of thess finansial stslements.
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DocuBiges Ervvabops 1D DIEOMALEIEE Bdd 28 SA03-BESR TF CTAI0E

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

1. General information

Emerging Acset Management Lid. {the "Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda on 3 November
200%, The Company was incorporated under the Bermudian Companies Act 1981,

The Company provides fund mansgoment services w phatforms to allow emeonging fumsd managers
1o get started in the industry in a low-cost and low-nsk way.

As ot the reporting date, the Company acted as investment manager for the following platforms
and Fund:

- Emerging Manager Platform Linited

« Emerging Muoaager Platform 2 Lanited

- Cayman Emerging Manager Platform SPC

- Cayman Emerging Manager Platform (2) SPC

- Cayman Emerging Manager Platform (33 SPC

- Lowrence Park Credit Strategies Master Fund LLC (ceased operations 31 January 2024)
- Fulminis Emerging Manager Platform SPC icommenced operations (0 March 2023)

The Company’s wholly owned subsidinry, EAM (USA) Lid | acts a5 Adminkarative Manager for
the following platfonm;

- Emerging Musager Platform LLC

In sddition, the Company provides Management Company services 1o Jewel Box Fund, an
excmpted trust governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands and to Global Altermative Strategy
Funid, an exemplod trust governed by the lows of the Cayvman Islands, Jewel Box Fund suspended
operations 31 December 2023 and will re-open in the thind quarter of 2024, Global Allernative
Strategy Fund kas not yet commenced operations.

2. Basis of preparation

These non-statutory financial stalements represent the scparate non-statulory financial statements
for the Company. The directors of the Company have ¢lected not to draw up consolidated financial
staternents for the year ended 31 December 2023 a5 required by Internationa) Financial Reporting
Standard 10 - Consolfdated Financial Statements for its group as the group’s subsidianes. did not
operale during the vear under review and accordingly the group's financial results are not
materally diflerent from those of the Company,

In all respocts, these separate nen-siafutony financial smicments have been prepared in accordance
with Internationnl Financial Repering Standands and on a historical cost basis. The matenal
socounting policy information adopted are sct out below.
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DocuBiges Ervvabops 1D DIEOMALEIEE Bdd 28 SA03-BESR TF CTAI0E

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

. Hasiy of preparation (continned)

Use of extimates and judgements

The preparation of financial staternents in conformity with [FRS: requires management to make
judgemnients, estimates and assumplions (hat afTect the application of accounting policses und the
reportcd amounts of asscts, labilitics, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
cstimates.

Estimates and underlving assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basic. Revisions 1o
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the cstimates are revised and in any
future periods sffected.

In the apinion of the directors, the sccounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
prepanng these financial statements are not difficul! 1o reach, subjective or complex 1o a degree
which woulld warrant their deschiplion as significant and critical in terms of the requirements of
IAS 1 (revised).

3 Material accounting policy infarmation
Tovextments in subsidioory

A subsadiary 15 an cohity that is controlied by the Company, The Company controls an investee
when the Company s exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from its involvement with the
imvestee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investoe.

Investment in sabsidiary is sccounted for on the basis of the direct equity interes! and is siated at
cont less any accumulated imparment bossex. Dividends from the investmcnt arc recogmsod in
profit or losa,

(hher financial imsrumen

Financial asscts and financial [abilitics are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial misets and financial liabilities are initially
recognised o their Car value plus directly attributable trnsaction costs for all fmancial assets or
financial liabilitics not classified ot fair vahee through profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial labalitics are offsct and the net amvount presented in the satement
of financial position when the Company has a legally enforceable nght to sef ofl the recognised
amounts and intends erither o seitlc on a net basis or o realise the asset and settle the lability
stmulinncously.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asscts expire of when the catity transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for de-
recognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires,

An equity mstrument 1% any contract that evidences a resadual interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all of its Liebilites. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceads received, net
of direct issue conts,
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DociBiges Ervvabops 1D DEOMALEIEE B4 25 SALJ-BESR TF C TAI0C

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

3 Matcrial accounting policy information (continacd)
EMher fivamcial insirmmcals foonlinied)

a)  Fimanchal miigds

The Company classifics s linancial accts ax subioquently measurcd af amortised cost or
mcasured at FVTPL on the basis of both!

o The entity's business model for managing the financial sssets; and
- The contractual cash flow charscteristics of the financial assel.

Consequently, all recognised financial asels are subsequently measunad in their entirety al cither
amortised cost or fir value,

Financial axsety ot oooriized cosf

A fmancial pisel is messured ol amortised cost if it i3 held within & business model whose
objective is to bold financial sssets in onder to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual
fermes give nse on specilied dates io cash lows that are solely poyments of principal and inlerest
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets measured ot amoriscd cost include trade
and other reccivables (repressnting amounts receivable for transactions contractied for but not yet
delivered by the end of the period) and cash and cash equivalents.

An assessment of business models for managing financial ssscts is fundamental 1o the
classification of o {inancial asset. The Company determines the business muodels al a level that
reflects how groups of financial asiete are managed tagether 10 achieve a particular business
objective.

For Minancial assets of amortised cost, appropriate allowances for expected credit losses (*ECLs")
are recognised in profit of less in scvordance with the Company’s accounting policy on ECLs.

b Fimanctal Rabilities and oguity

(1) Trwe and other payables

Trude and other payvables are classificd with current Labilitics and are stated &t their nominal
value.

(i1)  Shares issued by the Company
Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classilied as equity instruments.

12
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

3 Material accounting policy infermation (continaed)
Tmpairment

The Company recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on the (ollowing - financial asicls ot
o ised cost
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances ane mensuncd on cither of the following bases:

¢ 12-month FCLa: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

¢ lLifetime FOLs thete are FOCLs that result from all poctible defaull events over the
expectod hife of a financial instrument,

The Company meisures loss allowances i an amount equal to lifcume ECLs, except for the
following. which are measuned as 12-month ECLe

*  Finencial asscts that are determined to have a low enedit nsk at the reporting date; and
Other financial assets for which credit nsk (1o, the rsk of default oocurming over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

A financial instrument is determined 1o have low credit risk i71) the financial instrument has a low
risk of defauly, 1) the borrower has & strong capacity 1 mect its contractual cash Mow obligations
im the pear tenm and i) sdverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necesaanly, reduce the ability of the bormower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligitions. The Company considers o linancal asset to have low cradit nsk when ot has an
intermal or external eredit mting of *investment grade’ as per globally understosd definitions. To
the extent applicable, the Company has applied the low credii nsk assumption for the following
classes of fimancial assets - cash ot bank

When determining whether the eradit risk of o linancial ssset s ineremsed significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company copsiders reanonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available withoot undue cost of effort. In this regard, the Company
has an iternal credit scoring system in place thal analyses the credit guality of the counterpartics
accordingly. Such credit scoring system takes into consideration both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Company’s lastorical experience and informed credit
assessment, and also considers the counterpariics” macrocconomic context.,

The Company has clected the rebuttable presumption from [FRS 9 by assuming that the credit
risk on a financial sssct has increased significantly if the financial asset is more than 30 days past
dwe.

Morcover, unless the low credit nsk assumphion s applicd, f the counterparty becomes

downgraded by two notches (or more) based on the credit score asscssmend, the Company docms
the financial asset™s credit risk to have increased significantly.,
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

3 Material accounting policy infermation (continaed)
Tmpairment feonlinuedi

Moreover, the Company considers a financial asset to be in defaull whene

¢ The borrower s unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in {ull, witheu
recotrse by the Company 1o sctions such as realizing secunty (if any is held); or
& The financial aact is more than M days past duc.

The maximum period convidered when estimated FCLs is the maximurm contractual period over
which the Company s exposcd to credat sk

A lnancial assct s oroditampaired whon one or more cvents that have a detnmental mipact on
the estimated future cash {lows of that financial asset have occurmed. Evidence that a financial
psset 18 credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: significant financial
dafficulty; a breach of contract, such as a defaul or past due event; the lenden(s) of the bormower,
fise poonomic of contractual neasons relating to the bomower”s financial difficulty, heving granted
o the hormvwer a concessaon(s) that the lendenis) would not otherwise consider; it s becoming
probable that the bormower will enter bankrupicy or other financial reorganisstion; or ihe
disppearance of an active market for that financial asset bocatse of fimancial difficulties.

The Company writes off a financial assct when there s information indicating that the
counterpanty i in severe financinl difficulty and there s no realistic proapect of recovery, for
example when the counterparty lns been placed under hiquidstion or has entered imlo bankrepicy
proceedings. For financial asscts, the eredit loss is the differemce betwieen all contractual eash
flowws that ane due to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive, discounted af the original effective imerest mte. ECLs represent the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

Reverne recogrifion

The Company's revenue streams compnse primanly of invesimen! management s¢rvices 1o
invesiment funds. The majority of contracts stipulate & minimam fived fee below a mimmum
wsets under management threshold. Revenue is olherwise based on o basis points calculation
determined by the mscts under managemeni.

Revenue is measurcd af the transaction price excluding value added tax and other sales faxes.

The tansaction price is allocated 1o each performance obligation based on the individual selling

poice of gach performance obligation, Revenue is recognised when the Company s performance
obligitions have heen satisfied and the following criteria have boen met:

« lhe parties Go the coitroct have appioval the contract;

* the Company can identify cach party’s rights regarding the sarvices to be transfemed,

» the Company can identily the payment lerms for the services to be transfermed;

# the contract has commercial substunce; and

» it m prohable that the Company will colleat the consdertion for the services traasferned

14
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

3 Material accounting policy infermation (continaed)
Reverwe recogrition fcomtinued)

The Company provides asset management services though contracts which have an indefinite
durmtion,

Such services are recognised as o performance obligation satisfied over time as the services ane
provided. Although there ore certnin performance obligations provided “when neoded”, the
majority of the work i performed on a regular basis, and there s no breakdown of costs betweoen
performance obligations.

Reverue i recogmised evenly over the contract peniod (1.2, on a manthly basi), as the customer
15 deemed 1o simuliancously eoave and consume the Services as they ane provided.

Revenue is recognised when the Company satisfics the performance obligation, which is o a
monthly basic

Toixatlni

Uncher cumrent Bermiuda laws, the Company is not required to pay any taxes in Bermuada on cither
income or capital gains. The Company has received an undertaking from the Minister of Finance
in Bermuda exempting i from any such taxes ul least umtil the period 2035, As a resull,
management has made no provision for income taves arising ool of Dermuda laws in these

finnncial statereents.

The Company aceries corporale ipcome Laxes payable to HM Revenue & Customs in the United
Kingdom. The corporste mmcome taxes based on the contnbution to income generated by
emplovees of the Company based in the United Kingdom. As a result, management has made a
provision for income taxes payable in the United Kingdom in these financial statements

(wrremcy transiation

The financial statements of the Company are preseated in its functional currency, the USD, bang
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. Transactions
denominated in currencics other than the functional cumemey are translated at the exchange mtes
ruling on the date of tramsaction. Monctary assets and habilities denominated in curmencies other
than the funchional cumrency are re-translated to the functional currency at the exchonge rate nuling
at period-end, Exchange differcnces arising on the scttfement and on the re-translation of
manetany items ane dealt with in the statermend of profit o loss and other comprehensive income.

Net fureign exchange gainy and losses are classifiod with other operuting expenses.
Cash and cush equivalents

Cash and eash equivalents comprise of demand deposits.

Divichends

[Mvidends 1o halders of squity instnaments are recognised as liabilitics in the period in which
they are declared and are debited directly 10 equity.
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

dn.  Imitial application of International Finaacial Reporting Standards

The fllowing amendments to the existing standards issued by the International Accounting
Stendands Board are elfective for the current vear:

Amendmenis to JAS | and IFRS Proctice Statement 2 - Iiscloswre of docosnting Pelicies

The amendments are intondad 1o help preparers in deciding which sccounting palicies 1o disclose
in their financial stalements. The amendments amend 1AS | in the following ways:

*  Anentity s now required 1o disclose its material accounting policy information instead of
ils =ipnificant asccounting policies

*  several paragraphs are added 1o explain how an entity can kdentify material accounting
policy information and 1o give examples of when sccounting policy information i likely
1o be macenial;

¢ the amendments clarify that accounting pelicy information may be material because of its
rudure, even il e related amounts are immaienial,;

o the amendments clarify that accounting policy information is material ifusers of an entity’s
financial statemonts would need it to understand other material information o the financial
statemends; and

« the amendments clorify that il an entity disclosss immaterial accounling policy
information, such infommation shall nol obscure matenal accounting policy information,

In addition, IFRS Practice Staternent 2 has boen amended by adding guidance and cxamples to
explaun and demonstrate the application of the *four-step materality process’ (o sccounting
policy information in order to suppot the amendments to IAS |,

Amendmonty 1o [AS 8 - Definition of Accounting Extimalres

The amendments are intended to help entitics distinguish between sccounting policics and
accounting estimales, The changes te IAS 8 fogus entirely on accounting cstimates and clanify the
fallowang:

#  The definmion of a change in acoounting edimales = replaced with a defimbon off
asccounting cstimates. Under the new definition, accounting cstimales are “monctary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to messurement uncerainty™,

*  [ntities develop accounting estimates if accounting policics require items in financial
statements 1o be measured in @ way that involves measurcment uncertainty.

*  The Board clarifies that a change in accounting estimute that results fom new information
of new developmenix is not the correction of as ermor, In addition, the effects of a change
in an inpat or 8 measurement technigue used to developan accounting estimate are changes
in accounting cstimates if they do not result from the comection of prior penod cmors,

A change in an scoounting cstimate may affect only the cument peniod’s profit or loss, or the
profit or loss of both the current period and future periods. The effoct of the change relating 1o
the current period is recogniscd as income of expense in the cumrent peniod. The cffect, ifany, on
future periods is recognised a8 income or expense in those future periods.

In the opinion of management, ¢ the asdoption of these standards and interpretations do not have a
signillcant impact on the Company’s finuncial stalements.

16
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

4. IFRSs i issoe buot oot yel clfective

The Company has not yet applied any new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but not yet
effective. These are all applicable for financial percods commencing on or after | Janooary 2024,

Amermdmenis fo LAS | = Classiffoation of [iahilites ax Crerent or Non=Uurrent

The amendments affect only the presentation of Habilities in the statement of (inancial position
— podt the amount of timing of recognition of any asset, lahility income or expenses, of the
information that entitics disclose about these ttema, They:

*  clanfy that the classification of labilities as current of non-cusrent should be based on nights
that are in existence al the end of the reporting period and align the wonding in all affected
parngraphs to refer to the “nght™ to defer setifernent by ot least twelve months and make
explicit that only rights in place "8l the end of the reporting periad™ ahould allisct the
classification of a liahility;

o clanify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise
its right to defer settiement of a liability; and

+  muke clear that setthement refers o the tmmsfer 1o the counterpanty of cash, oquuty
instruments, other assets or services.

The amendments are applicd retrospectively for anmual periods beginning on of affter | January
2024, with early application permitied, The IASH lus aligned the effective date with the 2022
amendments o IAS 1. I an entity applics the 2020 amendments for an carlier period. it 15 also
required to apply the 2022 amendments carly.

- 4 Revenue

Revenue represents the amoant receivable for servicss rendered during the vear, as follows:

2023 2022
uso usp
6. her operating income

2033 2022

usp usp
Funds' set-up lees 200,796 240,557
Funds® closing fees 47132 20,920
Director sorvices - 620

247 929 262,102

17
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Notes to the financial statements
31 December 2023

7. Other operating cxpenscs

2023 2032
uso ueD
Auditor’s remureration 12,000 12,000
Bank charges 8,826 8,932
Company feas 143,040 117,459
Fund closing exponses 3920 7499
Fund set-up expansas 152,468 169,752
Advisors fees (o third paty 52,988 =
Group rechorges 04,127 20,000
Heath Nsurance 22,818 18,4979
Leqal fess 1,937 936
Liabiity Insurance . 45,350
Ofcg exponses, including ront 23,814 23,609
Professional fees 78,762 80,029
Mot foreign oxchange (gainajiosses (175) 1,087
Tax and other charges 4,800 4,500
Bad debt related to fund closures - 6,000
{Over scorualOther opersling expenses [2.441) BT
632,193 G549
H, Sall costs and employes information
2023 022
uso usn
Staff cosls:
Wagos and salares and laxes 77056 AT5.408

The average number of employees inclusive of executive directons was (2022 - 4)
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Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Notes to the financial statements
31 Decamber 2023

9. Fimancial usscits

As ot 3] December 2023, the Company carmies investiments i six entitics whose maan principal
AUV 18 10 serve as o platform that allovs cmerging fund managers 10 get started in the industry.
The Company also camics an mvestment i ils sole subsahary, whose principal activity 15
investment and administrative management of platforms domiciled in the US.A.

Investments
usp
Carrying amoaunt

At 01,01 2022 500
Additions 100
AL 2. 20202023 600

The related entities and subsidiary of the Company held directly were as follows
Elace of %
ncorporation owngrship
Ermsging Manager Platicern Limited Bermuda 100
Emeiging Manager Plationm 2 Limited Bermuda 100
Cayrnan Emerging Manage Plalform SPC Cayman lslands 100
Cayman Emerging Managor Platform (2) SPC Cayman Islands 100
Cayman Emerging Managor Piatform (3) SPC Cayman Islands 100
EAM (USA] Ltd Beormuda 100

1w, Dividends

Durng the reporming porod, the Company pasd a dovidend of {ESD500, 000 (2022 178060, (6K
a5 approved by the directors throughoud the vear.

11, Trade and other receivables

N Dec 31 Do

2023 2022

uso usD

Amounis owed by reiated panies 564,996 380,085
Amounis owed by shareholdor 100,000 100,000
Prepayments 136,665 103,817
Oither recoivables 15,460 R k|
nran 507.043
1 _

The terms and conditions of the amounts due 1o related partics are disclosed in note |7,

18
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1. Trade and sther payables

31 Dec 31 Dec
2023 2022
uED uso
Trace and other payabies 209,625 126,662
No interest i charged on trade and other pavables.
13, Other financial liabilivies
M Dec 3 Dec
2022 2021
usD uso
Amounts duo lo relsted partes 600 600
Amounis due 1o related companies 167,409 65,343
198,009 65,043
The terms and conditions of the amounts due 10 relatod partics are disclosed in note 17,
14, Share capital
Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares
2023 2022
uso usp
On issws 31 Decamber 2022737 Decambar 2023 140 140

At 31 Decomber 2023 and 31 December 2022, the suthonsed share capital comprised 140
ordinary shares af o par value of USDI each. All shares have been issued and called up.

15 Other egiity
M Dec 3 Dec
2023 2022
usD uso
Ofther oqully 481,860 481,860

On 29 August 2017, all of the shares of the Company wiere acquired by its new immediate parent,
GC Apgile Intermediante Holdings Limited, which resulted in the unwinding of the amounts
reccivable from the existing preferepce sharcholders st the time amounting to US349, 960,

Ovther equity amounting to P8I FE 900 (2022 - FIRD] 1E @00 represent capital contribution from
the sharcholders, including an additional contribution of $100,000 contributed in 2022 10 meet
requirements 10 Japan for the Company to provide management company servioss. Such amounts
are unsecured, intorest-froe and repavable exclusively ot the option of the Company.
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16, Cash and cash equivalonis

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following amount

in the statement of Ginancial podition:

Cash ol bank 6nd on hand

3 Dec 3 Dec
2023 2022
usD usb
90,770 28,523

Cash at bank carns interest at finating rates based on hunk deposit mies.

17, Relared pary disclosures

The Company’s immediate parent is GC Agile Intermediate Holdings Limited and its ultimate

parent is Gienstar G,

Amounts owed to related paries o8 disclosed in pote 13, include amounts due 1o the underdving
platforms under management and amounts due 1o related companics for intercompany recharpes.

During the course of the vear, the Company entered into transactions with related pamics &

fisllows:

Other Operafing eapenses and stalf costs:
Related party transactons wilh:

Related companies

Pliatforimns uindes Mg tenl

18 Fair values of fnancial asseis and Anancial Habilities

1dan 23 1o 1 Jan 22 10

M Dec 3 31 Daz 22

usp usD
1,338,646 1,105,430
247909 262,102
423,184 418,704
173,895 173,458

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the carming amounts of financial ssets and
financial lisbilnics classificd wath curromt asscts and curmont labilitics respectively approximated
their fasr values due to the short-term maturitics of (hese asscts and labilities.
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19, Financial risk managemont

The exjposures to nsk and the way nsks anse, together with the Company”s objectives, policies
and processes for managmg and measunng these risks are disclosed in more detall below.

The objectives, policics and processes [or meanaging Mnancial risks and the methods used o
measure such risks are subject o continual improvement and development.

Where applicable, any significant changes in the Company™s exposure to financial risks or the
manner in which the Company manages and meaunes these nisks are disclosod below.

Where possible, the Company aims 1o reduce and control risk concentrations. Coscentrations of
linancial risk anise when financial instrurments with similar chamctenstics are mfluenced in the
same way by changes in economic or other factors. The amount of the nisk exposure associated
with finoncial struments sharing similar characteristics is disclosed in more detail in the notes
te the financial statements.

€ e} ik

Financial asscts which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit sk consist
principally of receivables and cash ot hank.

Receivables are presented net of an allowance for doubiful debis.  As disclosed in the matenial
accounting policy information, in terms of [FRS 9, the Company apphes an ECL model. Credit
nsk with respect to reocivables 1s limited due to credit control procedures. [Due 1o the nature of
the business and nesulting trade recervable halances ansing, cnodit nisk with respect 1o reccivahles
is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The camying nmouni of tmde receivables reennded in the financial statements, which 15 net of

impairment losses, represents the Company s trade receivables that are considered to be past due
fior which the Company has not provided ax the amounts. are s1ill considered recoverable.

The Company assesses the arodit qualiny of its costomers by taking into account thar financial
standing ind past experience. During the year no allowance fos doubiful debis has been recognmed
against trede reccivables (2022 - USDNIL

Cash ot bank is placed with Northern Trust International Banking Corporation. This financial
institution has s credit rating of A+ (2023: A<) by Standard and Poor’s,

Currency risk

Forign cumency transactions comprise mainly of transactions in EUR and GBP. The rsk arising
from foreign curmency transsctions i< managed by regulir monitonng of the relevant exchaage
rates and management’s reaction to materuil movements thereto, Currency nisk i not considered
to be significant an the dote of the financial position.

Twteresi rufe riak
Intercit rate nsk is the nsk associated to fuctuations in the rate of inderest in relation 1o interest
bearing linancial asscts and liahalitics beld by the Company. Bank balances represent shor term

balances held caming interest at the current market rates, where the directors belicve that the
Company s exposure o intencst rute risk is not sigmificant.
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19, Finsncial risk managemont (continucd)
Figuidity: risk

The Company monitors and manages its fsk to & shortage of finds by monitonng forocast and
actual cash flowa. Liguidity sk is not considercd to be significant a1 the date of financial position,

{apital rick mamagemen

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are 1o safcguand its ability 10 continue & a
poing concern and fo maximise the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
cyuty balance.

The capital strocrure of the Company conists of cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in pote
16 and items presented within equity in the statement of financial position,

The Company s directon manage the Company s capital structure and make adjustments to it, in
the light of changes in economic conditions or relevant legislation. The capital structure is
reviewed on an ongoing basis

2. Gruarantee
In connection with a credit facility entered by the Company”s indirect parent within the Apex
Giroup dunng the previous penods, all of the Company”s asscts have boen pledged in favour of
the Apex Group's lenders.

1. Evenis aficr ihe reporting daie
As a result of changes o the Invesiment Basiness Act 2003, as amended, the Company applicd 1o

become o Class B Registered Person with the Bermuds Monetuory Authority,  The Company
reccived confirmation of its appointment & March 2004,
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Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd.

2025 51,859 775

2010 9 8
CIMA

TORANOTEC Asset Management Ltd.)

2025

1998 31
2016 12

Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd.

2025 51,859 775

2010 9 8
CIMA

50
112
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1 Mutual Funds Law
Mutual Funds Act
1993

Banks and Trust Companies Law Banks and Trust
Companies Act

Banks and Trust Companies Law

Companies Management Law Local
Companies (Control) Law Banks and Trust Companies
Act Companies Management Act
Local Companies (Control) Act
1.2 1960
1.3 2025 12,900
3,100
1.4
CIMA CIMA
1.5 CFATF
CFATF 1992
1988
FATF 40
2.1 1993
2020
CIMA 17
CIMA

CIMA
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2.2
2020
4(4)
15
CIMA
2020
2020
4.1
CIMA
MF3
4,482
4.2
CIMA
4.2
CINA
CINA
4.3 43

4.3.1

2020

MF2

CIMA

142/178

EDINETOOOO
o o o o o =220 [0 [0k B
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020

4(4)

CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

MF2A CIMA

4,482



EDINETOOOO
o o o o o =220 [0 [0k B
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(€)) 100,000
(b)
©)
i 100,000
4.3.2 (€)) (b)
CIMA 4,482
©
CIMA 3,201
4.3.3 4(3)
4(3)
CIMA
4.4
4.4.1 43)
100,000
15
4.4.2 CIMA
Offering Memorandum
4,482
4.4.3
CIMA
5.1
Prospectus Offering Memorandum
CIMA 2020
5.2 CIVMA 2020 NAV
NAV
NAV NAV
NAV
5.3 CIMA CIMA

CIMA CIMA
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CIMA
5.3.1
5.3.2
5.3.3
5.3.4
5.3.5
5.4
CIMA
5.5 CIMA
2023
CIMA CIMA
5.6
CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
6.1
6.2
CIMA 2

50
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6.3
4.2 CIMA
6.4 CIMA

CIMA

4(3) 4.3
4(4) 4.4

6.5 CIMA
CIMA

CIMA
6.5.1

6.5.2

6.5.3

6.5.4
6.5.5

6.6 CIMA

6.7
CIMA
6.8 50
24,390 50
30,488 8,536
50
36,585 50
42,682 8,536

7.1
7.1.1

7.1.2
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(d)

(e)
Q)

7.1.

7.2.1

7.2.2

7.2.3

.10
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1.12
.13

.14

.15
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7.3.6

@

(b)

©

(D

©)

Q)

@
7.3.7
7.3.8
7.3.9
7.3.10
7.3.11
7.3.12

7.4

7.4.1

7.4.2 LLC

7.4.3 LLC

7.4.4 LLC
7.4.5

7.4.6 LLC

18

LLC

LLC

LLC

24

LLC

LLC

LLC

50

LLC

(i) LLC
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)

7.4.7 LLC LLC
7.4.8 LLC
LLC
LLC
LLC
7.4.9 LLC
7.4.10 LLC
LLC LLC
7.4.11 LLC 50

7.4.12 LLC
LLC LLC

7.4.13 LLC LLC
LLC

7.4.14 LLC 18

CIMA

8.1 CIMA CIMA
CIMA
8.2
8.11

500
CIMA
10

8.3
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
8.4 CIMA 8.3 10
CIMA
10
8.5 CIMA 8.3

CIMA 10
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8.7
IMA

CIMA

CIMA

8.7

CIMA

4 (b)

.11 CIMA
CIMA

.12

.13

.14
.15

8.9.4

8.9.5

8.13
8.9.4

8.9

CINA
100
CINA
CINA
4(3) 4(3)
CIMA
8.9.5 CINA
CIMA
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8.15.1 CIMA

8.15.2 CIMA
CIMA
8.15.2
CIMA
8.9.5

8.15.3

8.16 8.9.4

CIMA
10
8.17 8.15

8.17.1 CIMA
8.17.2

8.17.3

8.17.4

8.9.5

8.18 CIMA 8.17

8.19
8.9.1
8.20 8.17.3

8.21 CIMA

8.22 CIMA

4 ()

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

4(3)

94(4)

CIMA

8.

CIMA

43)

9.1 CIMA
CIMA

9.2 9.1

CIMA
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2025 18

Independent auditor®s report

To Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. solely in its capacity as trustee of Jewel Box
Fund

Our qualified opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for qualified
opinion section of our report, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Jewel Box Fund (the Fund) as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

What we have audited
The Fund®s financial statements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;
the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets attributable to redeemable unitholders for the year
then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Basis for qualified opinion

As at 31 December 2023, the Fund had made an investment in Montreux Healthcare Fund Ltd
(““Montreux””), with a carrying value of US$1,011,329, which represented 13.62% of the total assets
of the Fund. As stated in Note 9.2, Montreux, through its underlying master fund (the ““Master
Fund””), held a single investment in a private healthcare company, the Active Care Group (““ACG*”).
In October 2022, the Master Fund initiated a process to dispose of ACG and the directors of
Montreux had suspended the subscriptions and redemptions of Montreux and ceased to calculate its
NAV. Due to the lack of relevant financial information for ACG, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the carrying value of Montreux as at 31 December 2023.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary with respect
to the net assets attributable to unitholders as at 1 January 2024, and the net realised and
unrealised gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income, and the statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("I1SAs"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified opinion.

Independent auditor®s report (continued)

To Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. solely in its capacity as trustee of Jewel Box
Fund

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund®s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor®s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Independent auditor®s report (continued)

To Apex Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd. solely in its capacity as trustee of Jewel Box
Fund

Conclude on the appropriateness of management®"s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund"s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor™s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for Apex Fund Services (Cayman)
Ltd. solely in its capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement
letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

18 June 2025
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Independent auditor™s report
to the members of

Emerging Asset Management Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Emerging Asset Management Ltd. (““the Company””),
set out on pages 6 to 23, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International

Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants® /nternationa/ Cade of Ethics for Professional Accountants including
International Independence Standards (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and the Auditor®s Report thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Company®s
information, the directors” report and the statement of directors” responsibilities, but does not include the

financial statements and our auditor®s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
As explained more fully in the statement of directors” responsibilities on page 5, the directors are

responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
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IFRSs and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,

or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor”s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor"s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The scope of our audit does not include assurance on the future viability of the Company or on the efficiency
or effectiveness with which the directors have conducted or will conduct the affairs of the Company. The
financial position of the Company may improve, deteriorate, or otherwise be subject to change as a consequence
of decisions taken, or to be taken, by the management thereof, or may be impacted by events occurring after

the date of this opinion, including, but not limited to, events of force majeure.

As such, our audit report on the Company*s historical non-statutory financial statements is not intended to
facilitate or enable, nor is it suitable for, reliance by any person, in the creation of any projections or
predictions, with respect to the future financial health and viability of the Company, and cannot therefore be
utilised or relied upon for the purpose of decisions regarding investment in, or otherwise dealing with
(including but not limited to the extension of credit), the Company. Any decision-making in this respect
should be formulated on the basis of a separate analysis, specifically intended to evaluate the prospects of

the Company and to identify any facts or circumstances that may be materially relevant thereto.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

Auditor”s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions

that may cast significant doubt on the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
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that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor™s report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor"s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, in terms of generally accepted auditing standards, the absence of any reference to a
material uncertainty about the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern in our auditor®s report

should not be viewed as a guarantee as to the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

For the avoidance of doubt, any conclusions concerning the adequacy of the capital structure of the Company,
including the formulation of a view as to the manner in which financial risk is distributed between
shareholders and/or creditors cannot be reached on the basis of these financial statements alone and must

necessarily be based on a broader analysis supported by additional information.

We communicate with directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

The audit report was drawn up on 28 June 2024 and signed by:
Mark Giorgio as Director

in the name and on behalf of

Deloitte Audit Limited

Registered auditor

Central Business District, Birkirkara, Malta

)
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